Fig. 1. The Middle Temple dial, signed and dared Baptista
Surtem, 1627, Middie Temple Hall, east window, £ven at appears on Lomdon dials after about 1636, The flv & dam-

this early dare, Sutton hod afready adopred the crass patée
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Fig. 4. The Bucklebury dial, made in
1649 probably far a member of the
Stephens family, now in Bucklebury
church, mear Newbury.
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Fig. 5. The Blue (ar 5t Clement ‘s dial)
made in London in {656 (Private collec
o),

§ L i,

*.

Fig, 8 The Widdington dial, 1664, showing rthe narrow
band of unadorned matt paint inside the hour-lines, which

aged by repairs, bur its head is visible fust lefi of centre.

Fig. 0. The Non Sine Lumine dial, a
direct west dinl designed (ke a marhe-
matical scale; the stvle of the inserip
tion appears on g number of dials at-
tribuied fo John liver. [Privaie col-

leciion).
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GLASS SUNDIAL MAKERS OF 17"" CENTURY LONDON

GEOFFREY LANE

1

Thiz articla s distillad from wider-ranging articles willen far
tha Joumal of Staired Glass, the first of which appeared in
Decambar 2005,

INTRODUCTION

Morg than 30 glass sundials have come down to us from the
century between 1620 and 1720, Add in lost dials known
from documentary sources, and the British wotal for the pe-
riod is nearer B0 By contrast ooly a single example from
the Elizabethan age has besn recorded so [ar — in 1385 Ber-
nard Dinninkhofl meluded a tiny cicular dial in an elabe-
rate display of heraldie alass ar Gilling Castle in Yorkshize,
The bagm in prodiuction coineided with greater availabilily
of elocks and watches (the Lendon Clockmakers® Company
was founded in 1631) and tailed off as they gradually be-
came more reliable. Understanding of English glass dials
has been hampered by a lack of reliable data on the glass-
painters whe did {or didn't) make them. Only two makers
have became at all widely known — John Oliver in Londen
and Henry Gyles in York. London was the main centre of
the trade, and recent research into the careers of its glass-
painters has turned up fresh information on the dal-makers
and the world in which they worked "

Many of the surviving dials are now familar fom the ex
callent wehsite operated by John Carmichsel, with much
input from Chris Dranicl © In this article they are identified
by the catalogue number given them by Mr Carmichael,
with the addition of the letter *C7 = thus Dinninkhett™s dial
menlioned above becomes C=31, A page reference is also
provided for dials illustrated in the recent Sundials of e
Fritish Fsles (eg SBI-10).  What follows should, of
course, be reganded as a progress report

BAPTIST SUTTON (by 1600-1667)

Sutton is the sl koown London maker. He first comes 1o
nolice as a plass-painter about 16215 by the later 16205 he
had set up shop alongside an older colleague, Richard Bui-
ler. in Chancery Lane, Holbom, in the heart of “legal Lon-
don®.  Both no doubt hoped to find clients around the
nearby lons of Court and Changery, In 1627 Suttan worked
a small bul perlecily-formed rectangular dial into an othes
wise poutine armerial panel far the great hall of the Middle

Teraple, commemaorating Sir Nicholas Hyde, the new Chiel

Justice of the Common Pleas (Fig. 1). He inserted the date
and hiz Latinised signature, Sapiisia Switon, on either side
of the main irscription. The Hyde dial-panel was probably
installed in the large south-facing bey windoow nzar the high
table, whers the resident judges and their guests could lesm
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to appreciate its usefulness i seling theiwr watches
fairly blatant piece of advertising. (At some later dale il
was banished to z high east window, over the minsteels’
gallery, where il esvaped netice until recently spotted by
slained-glass historian Brian Sprakes, )

ln 1634 the physician Dr John Wyherd published a slim
vialure on lunar dinls, Herologiographica Necturma. Aller
entlining his method, and recommending Elias Allen (o
less) as a suitable maker of horizontal dials, Wyberd added
these wirds:

it womld he an exeellent way to hzve o Lunar Deall
dravwne an glasse and placed in a window after the man-
ner of those Sunne Dyolls which are most accuratcly
made by my loving friend M' Saprise Sutron, dwelling o
the wpper end of Chancery Lane, neere Holbome... who
likewise will he able to perform these as accurately ay
the other, if it shall be required of him.*

Sutton had evidently made 2 [air pumber of dials since
1627, One was for the church of St Magnus the Martyr, at
the northern end of Londen Bridge. The churchwarden’s
accounts (for 1638397 neatly vxplain ils purpose:

Faid Mr Sutton in full for the sunne dyall sett app m the

church window, wsed oo sell the clock by 0"
Up to this point Sutton's oulpul bad encompassed large
Biblical svenes ag well as armarials and sundials, but in
1641 Parliament barmed *superstitions images'. His career
still had twermy vears to run, and the fashion fer glass sun-
dials mo doubi helped haim suvive the downoon in other
wark, Iranically, ene of his clients that vear was 2 Puritan
Essex MP, Sir Themas Bamingion, Sutton made hin a dinl
bearing the date 1641 and the arms of 5ir Thamas and his
second wife Tudith, née Lytton (C-149 — Fig. 27, (11 sur-
vived in a house. Highworth, near Swindon, which was
dermolished in the 1960s, but has not been seen since). 1
wis almost certainly commissivned [or the London hovse
the Barringtens leased and furnished in fashionahle Cireat
Dueen Strect — a shart walk across Lincoln's Inn Fields
fram Sutton’s workshop. The Londun account book kep
by the Bamingloms' slewsnd has thiz entry for February
l62]:

Icm| paid for a glass dyoll fior my Maste]' his cham-

ber wingdow fs 8.

Disappointingly, it fails to idenlily the maker, However the
Barringlons’ peneral cash book includes this a few months
later:
lt[em] " o M Sutton the dyall maker in full ol hss bil
Tuly 2° 1641, besides w' [?] for London £13s44°
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I suspect this second dial was commissioned for their coun-
try home in Essex, The dial illustrated declines about 41 E
of due south, aboul right for Great Quecn Streel,”

Sutton made al least one other dial for o London church
5t Griles in the Fiells paid him £1 35 2d in 164950 “for a
Sunne Drvoll in the South wyndowe over the South church

dore™.

Fig. 2 The lost Barringlon for Highwarth) dial, made by
Suitown in T641 for the Puriian MP Siv Thomeas Barvivgion.
Phoiograph: P.§ Spokes, (943, by permission of Mrs A
Spokes Symonas.

SLTTON AND HIS ‘LONDON DIALS

Most of the surviving C17 English glass dials are drawn out
in a way very simmilar to Sutton's Barrington dial, and this is
particularly tree of those taditionally atributed 1o John
Oliver. There is abundant variety in the ernamental details,
bt surprismgly Little in the working parts, something which
ie zasily taken for granted and therefore averlooked. It is
therefore possible to speak of ‘London dials’ as & generic
type. Here arc the main features the bulk of south-facing
dials have in common;

13 the chapler-ring is done in yellow-stain (lo resemble
a clock-face) and has hlack Roman numerals (nermally
Roman) interspersed with black dots marking the hall

hours.

2} the number XI1, the meridian, is replaced by a cross
of the type known in heraldry as a cross pattée,
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Fig ¥ Dial, pascibly by Sutton, forserly in the colleciion
af Dy William Cole (Private Collection).

3) the central ares is painted matt white or a pale shade
on the back (2 method borrowed from inscription pan-
els) o show up the heur-lines and the shadow of the

g‘l‘lﬂTl!ﬁ]"l.

4) the hour lings are interspersed with very short half-
hour lines drawn against the ouler edge of this zone.

5 the quarler-hours are marked by a black-and-whil
scale along three sides just inside the chapter-ring.

) the gnomon {on the outside) 1s dircetly attached 1o the
dial by holes drillzd in the glass — normally one near the
top and three below, The lower holes are hidden in a
black strip painted alongside the quarter-hour scale, or
on the euter edge of the chapter-ring,

7 the inner field is wsually enlivened with a fly, spider
and 1y, or other small creature, painted on both sidas of
the glass o inerease its lifelike effect (see e.g. Fig. 7).

An artempt to work oul 8 chronalogy, based on dated dials,
suggests that only two important changes were made to this
specification over the course of the century:

a) in caclicr dials the short half-hour lines have dots on
their inner ends, echoing the dots on the chapter-ring
and giving the lines a lollipop-look; later these dots dis-
appoar.

by in later dials a second line is drawn around the central
field, marking off 2 narvow strip which is lelt eom-
pletely blank, possibly to help the eve catch the gnomaon
shadow (sce c.g Figs, 8, 9 & 11).

These changes both seem to have occwrred about 1655-61),
with a slight vverlap between the two., Coly the four dials
arributed to Henry Gyles, and a handful of others, deviate
to a marked degree from this regular pattern. Obviously the
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Fig, 7. The Non Sive Lumine dial, dedail showing a typical
‘London ' kowse flv: the wings are patnted on the inside
et} the body and legs on the outyide (righi) creating o
lifelike three-dimensional effect,

tull specification can oily be expected in south-facing dials
resembling clock-laces, but those made for other orienta-
tioms also tend to conform as far as possible. (Fig. 3) This
includes due east (or due west) dials which are designed
like mathematical scales (see e.g. Fig, 6 — here the gnomon-
mountings were hidden in two black strips, each concealing
three holes).

Where Sutton himself acquired his working methed is un-
knowen — poasibly from printed sources, perhaps a fricndly
digl-makear. His London successors, il seems, were nol par-
ticularly adventurous diallists, and content in most respects
to follow his example, Since their careers overlapped, this
makes it difficult to tell their work apart.

PHANTOM® DIAL-MAKERS

One dial that may well be by Sutton is the Bueklebury dial,
1649, probably painted for a house or memorial chapel in
south Gloncestershire (C-T3, Fig. 4).  Like the Barrington
dial, it commemorates a married couple — Thomas Stephens
of Little Sodbury and his wife Elizabeth Stone — bur post-
humously this lime, since Stephens died in 1613, The in-
seription, 5:5: me fecit 164%. has sometimes been taken for
the maker's signature, but no maker with these initials has
been idemtified, and in any case it scems unlikely the
Stephens family would have allowed & mere artisan to place
his initials in large letters over their arms. The historian E
A Greening Lamborn, solved the problem by suggesting
that the panel might have been painted by a Stephens de-
scendant, but [ think this underestimates the technical chal-
lenge invalved,” In fact, the inscription should probably e
read as “SS had me mude™. Whoever did paint it, the dial,
now in Bucklebury church near Mewbury, Berks., is a ther-
oughly professional piece of work,

Another possible Sutton dial is the recently-rediscovered
‘Bluc Dbal® (C-11, Fig. 3) It not only shares decorative
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features — fantastic masks set amid scrolls — with the Bar-
rington dial, but alse many ol its dialling details, while the
hour line angles indicate that the design latitude and wall
declination of the two dials i3 virtually identical. [ts com-
panion-piece was made for the west London church of St
Clement Danes, and commemorates repair work of 1633-6
in which the windows were reglazed by William Pollicott, a
glozier who lived in the parish, but is not so far recorded as
a plass-painter. 1t's not clear if the dial was made for the
church, or for a nearhy house, but the twoe must have been
paired carly on and have remained together ever since. The
initials WP, which appear prominently on the dial, appear
o be associated with an unidentified coat of arms display-
ing three halberds, or pole-axes. These could possibly be
read’ as a heraldic pun on the name Pollicott (i.2. *Pole-1-
got'h. The Latin inscription below makes it clear, however,
that WP did not himself paint the dial. It says he “had it
made™ (ffer? fecif) as a token of love (pignus amoris) in
connection with a specific date, 3 February 1655 (ie. 1656
in our terms). What this might have been is an unsolved

myslery.

Whoever did paint the Blue Dial probably also painted the
Marlborough Dial ¢, 1656 (C-19). The simularitics are strik-
ing — not only the decorative scrolls and masks, but the dis-
tinctive way the vellow chapter-ring is carried past the lead
framing and then overlapped by the scrollwork. The dial,
still in ils wriginal domestic sctting, was probably commis-
sioned by the wealthy mercer Thomas Bayly, following
Marlharough’s Great Fire of 16833 - the oldest part of his
house, including the parlour, had been rebuilt by 1656,
which is the likely date of the dial o, Bayly muost have
ordered it from London.

JOHN OLIVER (1616-1701)

Oliver has long been recognised as a maker of glass dials,
and the number atributed to him is considerable. But only
a handful can he positively identified as his work and they
all date from afler 1660, Examination of them shows that
he scarcely devialed from the pattern already laid down by
Sutton. This makes it difficult to tell his earlier work [rom
Sutton’s, and prompis specolation that Oliver may have
been Sutlon’s apprentice in the 1630s, or at least leamed
dialling from him. Both men belonged to the Glaziers'
Company, but unfortunately its apprenticeship records are
lost, Our first definite trace of Oliver is his marriage to
Grace Smith in 1639, They settled in the City parish of
1oly Trinity the Less, where live children were baptized
| 630-3%, and Grace was buried in 1660, Oliver remained
rooted in the City throughout his long career, presumably
secking his custom among the City merchants and the Liv-
ery Companies 1o which they belonged. His base in Trinity
Lane (roughly where Mansion House underground station
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now stands) was burnt out in the Great Fire of 1666, In
l66% he joined Robert Hooke and Peter Mills as a City
Surveyor, measuring plots so that other fire victims could
rebuild, and this led to further appointments in 1673-6 help.
ing Wren rebuild the churches and St Paul’s — all of which
took Dliver away from active glass-painting.

Four glass dials can be reliably attiributed to Cliver:

1& 2y Two small quarry (diamond-shaped) dials ot Mor-
thill, Beds. (C-96 & C-103; 3BI1-231), the first of which is
almost imperveptibly signed | Oliver and dated 1664 {SBI-
232); they were evidently presented to the reclor when
Oliver painted the imposing armorials in Nerthill chureh
which also bear his signature and the same date.

3) The larger rectangular dial (C-57) pamnted for the
Weavers” Company, who emploved Oliver as their glazier

when they were rebuilding after the Great Fire; a dale of

1669 iz often quoted, bat 1672 — when the hall was com-
pleted — is more likely.

4} A lost rectangular dial in an oval setting painted for
Lamhbeth Palace perhaps about 1669, known from a sketch
by the artist Frederick Sydney Eden (C-317; this attribution
goes back many vears but its arigins are losl; at ene time
the dial was apparently displayed L —
alongside panels depicting the arms
of Archbishop Shelden and the Shel-
donian Theatre in Oxford® — passibly
Oliver's name appeared on one of
these.

Working outwards from these, other
dials have been given to Oliver on
stylistic grounds — in the first place
other very similar quarry dials al
Ciroombridge (C-661 and Chicksands
(C-154), the undsted Hexagon dial
(C-32) and perhaps the Oxford scale
dial dated 1648 (C-44). Oliver was in
dial production at a fairly early date if |
this lust is accepted.  Another group
appear to share with the second
Morthill  dial amd  especially  the
Groombridge dial a particular form of
cursive handwriting; they include the
privately-owned  Non Sine  Lumine |
dial (C-29, Figs. 6 & T) and the
Tredegar (or Welsh) dial of 1671
(C-62). & third group of rectangular
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Fig, 9. The losi Pewterers' dial, made in
dials in oval surrounds share the gen- 57, probably by Richard Dutton, ax illus- 1935
eral sppearance of the Lambeth dial,  gearedd in 1002 fauthor’s photo, comtesy of the enamel colours and wvellow stain are
including several which include a  Societv of Aniiguaries). The classical pedi-
winged  hourglass this device ment may have extended onto neighbouring
Jranes.

appears on the Widdington dial (C-25, Fig. 8), dated 1664,
which convenicntly falls lwo or three vears after Sutton is
last known o have been active. Some “Oliver” dials show
markedly inferior workmanship, particalarly o the lettering
{eg 0-536). 1f they really are from Oliver’s workshop. it is
possible they date from a time when he was preccoupied
with other work, Presumably in such cases the Muaster
{who alore knew the scerets of dialling) sketched out the
workimg-parts bul left it th an apprenbice of jJourneviman o
complete the decorative parl ol the job.

RICHARD DUTTON (bel. 1640-1686)
Baptist Sutten had ceased work by about 1662, and had
died by November 1667, when administration of his eslate
was granted w0 his daughter Mary Dutton (1632-80), Her
husband Richard had probably been Sullon’s apprentice,
He seems to have taken over Sulton’s later premises near
Leather Lane, erecting over them a Sign of the Dial to an-
nounce hiz trade. Besides inheriting Sufton’s chents amaong
the Tnns of Court, Dutton obtained several commissions for
City churches and company halls, when they were rebuilt
following the Greal Fire of 1666, He almost certainly
painied a ting dial about 1671 [or the Pewterers” Company
iFiz. @), With ite motto Sic Fita (*so is life”) and its molil
T of & spider advancing on a fly, it
might casily hove been attributed Lo
(Miver, but the company’s records
show that the company employad
Richard Duiton in 1671, specifically
to paint glass for is new hall. The
sturdy-looking  classical  pediment
behind the company’s arms probably
continued onto neighbeuring panes on
gither side; if so, il was already in-
complete in 1902, when this illustra-
tion appeared in a history of the com-
pany.'"" The south-facing dial was
apparently destroyed m World War 11

In 16768 the Fishmongers paid
Dutten £2 6z “for a Dyoll in the Court
I Room”, and he probably painted an-
other for the Girdlers” Hall, where
rebuilding was nol completed until
1681-3. This dial also fell victim to
enemy bombing, and we only have an
outdoor picture which was reproduced
in The Builder in 1917 (Fig. 10). F &
Eden wrote a briel description in
‘.. the Company’s arms ... in

on a serolled shield in the centre
sguare with the proverh TEMPUS
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Fig. 10. The lost Givdlers' dial, made abowt 1683, seen in
ihe upper sash of one of the Court Room windows. The
phota feourtesy of the Sociefy of Anfiguaries) woas mah-
lizkhed in The Builder ro iffustrate an article on Girdlers'
el fne Ocrober {217,

CIMNTA RUMINAT along the top”, but unfortunately he did
not supply an illustration.”’ There is no documentary evi-
dence for the maker (which means it was probably do-
nated}, but Duttor’s only rival. John Oliver, had almost
completely given up this kind of work by the 1680s,

WILLIAM PRICE (c.1644-1710)

Price was a close colleague of Dutton's, There are few
traces of independent work by him before Dullon’s early
death in 1686, but thereafter he flourished with livle com-
petition. 1o 1700 he advertised in the London Gazeife as
“William Price, Glazier and Glass-Painter, near Hafton-
Garden in Halborn, London; where Gentlemen may have
Church-History, Coats of Arms, Dials &c. Painted upon
Cilass, in what Colours they please, to as great a Perfection
as ever’.

In 1702 Price painted an claborate south-facing dial for
Giray's Ion Hall, which has not been seen since it was taken
down in World War 1. F 5 Eden, who considered it
“perhaps the finest specimen in London of a glass sundial™,
painted a careful copy to illustrate a Cournry Life arlicle in
1935 — unfortunately it was oaly reproduced in mono-
chrome {Fig. 11) and Eden's original ink-and-watercolour
version has not so far been traced.” In the past this fine
dizl has been stributed to Henry Gyles of York (Price’s
exact contemnporary ), but the published Gray's Inn accounts
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Fig 11 The missing
© Gray's Fen Hall sun-
N dial, made in 1702 by
William Frice ihe
elodew, not seen since
it vk taken dovin T
e Second World
War; monea reprodic
tion af a hend-
pa.".umar ihirestrartiens
by Frederick Spdney
Eden.

clearly  show  that
Price ook over Dut-
ton's regular work
there, and was pad
£15 1és od in 1701-3
“for  Glass-painting
in the Hall and Chap-
pall windows™ " S0
far this iz the only
dial positively identi-
fied as the work of
Price. Il we compare
it with Sutlon’s 1641
dial. we see that so
far as the dialling is
concerned litle has altered in over sixly years.

Price reissued his adverisement in 1705, jointly with his
son Joshua. They claimed their firm could also work in
other materials: .. and draws Sun-dyvals on Glass, Wood,
or Stone &e.”  Joshua Price (1672-1722) carried on where
William lefl ofT: in 1719-21, when Gray’s Inn had problems
with its horizomal sundial in Coney Court, it paid the clock-
maker Henry Smith £4 145 6d for the repair and fining a
new gnomon, but “Price ye (ilass-painter’” was then paid £2
105 “for delineating 2 Sundials & fixing of an Horrizontal
Brass dinl in Coney Court™

HENRY GYLES (1645-1701)

Giyles lived in York; there is no evidence he ever worked in
London, which the Glaziers' Company would have
opposed, though friends kept him informed of develop-
ments in the capital. He is included here for completeness
and to point up various ways in which he differed from the
London glass dial makers. Gyles belonged to a group of
Yorkshire wirtwosi, who discussed dialling among other
mathematical and scientific topics. His four known dials
are quite distinel from their London counterparts: the half-
hour lines are drawn on the chapter-ring and lerminate n
decorative fimials, as on clocks of the period: he adopted the
erose pattée only very lale in his career. marking midday
numerically at least until 1687, when he painted the fine
Christ dial for University College, Oxford (C-46: Fig, 12),
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Fig. 12, Dal dorated by Heary Gyles to University Cal-
lege , Oxford, on completion of his altar window for the
college chapel in 1687, His method of marking midday and
the half hewrs differs significantly from Londan practice,

In the Gray's Court dial { 16M —C-5) he used a ¢ross fixchy
{pomted at the base), and secured the gnomon by only two
holes, both drilled in the central picture.  Gyles is mot
known to have enlivened his work with flies, spiders or
similar creatures. Decoratively, his work s much mors
sophisticated and literary in tone  this is particularly clear
if onc compares his early Mun Appleton dial (signed and
dated 1670 — C-6) with, say, Oliver's Weavers® dial of
1672

MATHEMATICAL PRACTITIONERS

In the 19505, the geographer Eva Taylor compiled an ¢xten-
sive directory of instrument-mukers and other practical
maihematicians whose collaborations (often across barricrs
of cluss and culture) played such an important part in the
carly developmen: of modemn science.  Pref. Taylor
included Sutton, Oliver and Dution for a variety of neasons,
although she knew little of their glass dial werk or the
connections between them.”  The following summarises
her findings, with added comments in square brackets:

Baptist Switen wrole a learned article on logarithmic seales

e.a. Oughtred’s Cireles of Proportion and Gunter’s Line
of Nurntbers — which Wyberd appended to his 1639 book on
moon-dials mentioned above.”  [Tavlor concluded from
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this that Sutton was 2 scale-maker, apparenily overlooking
Wyberd's recommendadon o him as & maker af zlass
dials]. He later assisted Wyberd in experiments to obtoin
precise measurements of liquids.'” Sution was the original
pwner of a fine copy of the Complead Survervor, by the
printer turned surveyor and diallist William Leybourne,
now in the British Library; his signature: Raplevia Sution:
liber ejuy 1653 is on the title page."”

[Taylor speculated that Baprist was either [ather or uncle of
the fine instrument-maker Henry Sutton, and by implica-
tion of Henry's supposed brother or kinsman William, who
followed the same trade, and belonged to the same livery
company, the Joiners, The ages are about right, but no
Henry or William appesrs among Baptist's children chris-
tened at 5t Andrew’s Holhorn 1624-40. In any case, when
Wiifiam Surtom was apprenticed in 1642, he was recorded
as the son of Henry Sutton, yeomen, of Kingston-on-
Thames."™ This older Henry could perhaps have been Bap-
tist's brother, but no evidence of any link has come to light
a0 far. and Sutton is after all a fairly common name],"*

Jokn iver caught Taylor's eye beeanse he hecame @
professional surveyor, working with Robert Hooke [and
probably William Leybourne]. Tavlor knew Oliver was a
olass-painter and dial-maker but [oddly] placed him in the
Painer-Stainers’ Company.  She discovered that he also
practised map-cngraving in his later lile [but incorrectly
mives the selling-addresses of his maps snd other prints
{various establishments around Ludgate Hill) as his home
address].™

Richard Duton made a series of shides [in December 1672]
for the Scottish astronomer James Gregory 1o project with
his digptric lzntern. [This was an early magic lantern. a
device only invented about 1659 —  the London optical
instrument makers Richard Beeves and Christopher Cock
were selling them from about 1663, Cock, whe made
Gregory's lantern, toll Gregory's London contact, John
Collins, that Dutton was “the sale Glasse Painter we have”,
suggesting that Durton was the only London maker of such
slides]”!  Dutlon later displayed propasals for William
Leybourne's 1682 beok [Malling, plain, concave, convex
efe., ot hiz shop “at the Sign of the Dial” in Holborn.
[Tavlor concluded that Dutton was “probably a dialmaker”,
though she did not know ol his relationship to Sutton|.”

MNOTE: Most of the phows are the author’s own, a few re-
produced by permission, All are capyright,
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